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ENCLOSURE

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Jose T. Medina, M. D. License No. 52-14931-01

The following violations were identified during an inspection conducted on
August 22, 1985. The Severity Levels were assigned in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C).

1. 10 CFR 20.101(a) requires a licensee to possess, use, and transfer its
licensed material . in . a manner which precludes whole body occupational
exposure of any individual in a restricted area of more than 1.25 rems in
any period of one calendar quarter except as provided in 10 CFR 20.101(b).

Contrary to the above, the licensee possessed and used its licensed material
in a manner that resulted in the whole body occupational exposure of an
individual, engaged in activities within its restricted areas, to 2.060 rems
during the second calendar quarter of 1985. The licensee did not meet the
provisions of 10 CFR 20.101(b).

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement IV).

2. 10 CFR 20.405(a) requires a licensee to make a written report within 30 days
to the appropriate NRC Regional Office listed in 10 CFR 20, Appendix 0, and
to the Director of Inspection and Enforcement, U. S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission, Washington, D. C. 20555, of each exposure of an individual to
radiation in excess of the applicable limits of its NRC license, or the
limits of 10 CFR 20.101 or 20.104(a).

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not submit the required report to
the NRC or to an employee who was exposed to radiation (whole body dose of
2.060 rems) in excess of the limits of 10 CFR 20.101(a) during the second
calendar quarter of 1985.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement IV).

Pursuant to 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this office within 30
days of the date of .this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
including: (1) admission -or denial of the alleged violations; (2) the reasons
for the violations if admitted; (3) the corrective steps which have been taken
and the results achieved; (4) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid
further violations; and (5) the date when full compliance will be achieved.

Security or safeguards information should be submitted as an. enclosure to
facilitate withholding it from public disclosure as required by 10 CFR 2.790(d)
or 10 CFR 73.21.
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